1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	Γ OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2			
3	MATTHEW WASHINGTON,) NO. 65998 Electronically Filed Jun 02 2015 08:27 a.m	
4 5	Appellant,	Jun 02 2015 08:27 a.m Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cou	
6	vs.)	
7 8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)	
9	Respondent.		
10	APPELLANT'S	S OPENING BRIEF	
12	(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)		
13	(Appear from suc	ignicit of Conviction)	
14 15	PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.	STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY.	
16	309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685	200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711	
17	Attornay for Appallant	ADAM LAXALT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 gives Court jurisdiction to review appeal from jury verdict. District court filed judgment on 06/27/14 notice of appeal. IV:786-89. Two notices of appeal were filed within 30 day time limit established by NRAP 4(b): Mathew filed on 06/30/14 and his attorney filed on 07/17/14. IV:790-96.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. DOUBLE JEOPARDY PRECLUDES MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS FOR ONE INCIDENT OF DISCHARGING A FIREARM AT OR INTO A STRUCTURE.
- II. PRINCIPAL OR AIDER AND ABETTER MAY NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR ACTIONS OF UNNAMED COCONSPIRATOR WHEN STATE PRESENTED NO EVIDENCE THAT AN UNNAMED PERSON EXISTED.
- III. EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT.
- IV. PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN JURY INSTRUCTIONS.
- V. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING.
- VI. VIOALTION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OCCURRED WHEN POLICE SEARCHED THE CAR A SECOND TIME.
- VII. VIOLATION OF RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION.
- VIII. PREJUDICIAL ERROR OCCURRED IN THE PENALTY PHASE WHEN STATE PRESENTED PICTURES OF MATHEW COLLECTED BY POLICE DURING FIELD INTERVIEWS AND DISCUSSED THE FIELD INTERVIEWS AND SHOWED TATTOOS.

IX. EVEN IF THIS COURT DOES NOT FIND ANY ONE SINGLE ERROR ENOUGH TO WARRANT REVERSAL, MATHEW ASKS THIS COURT TO CONSIDER THE CUMULATIVE ERROR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 11/06/13, State charged Mathew Washington and co-defendant Martell Moten with numerous felonies arising out of a shooting at an apartment – 10 counts of discharging a firearm at or into a structure at 2655 Sherwood. I:001-07. Both were also charged with a conspiracy and the murder of Nathan Rawls, and attempt murder and battery of Ashely Scott, LaRoy Thomas, and Marque Hill – all with a deadly weapon.

On 11/12/13, State amended the Criminal Complaint, changing theory of case by deleting a named coconspirator, and adding words "unknown coconspirator". I:008-24.

Mathew's preliminary hearing took place on 12/05/13 and 12/09/13. I:025-II:417. Upon completion of the hearings, justice court struck all gang enhancements within charging document. II:391; *Justice court minutes at* II:418-25.

2.8

On 12/23/13, district court arraigned Mathew under Information filed on 12/20/13.² He invoked his right to speedy trial in 60 days. Court set trial to begin on 02/03/14. *Hearing-*IV:832-36; *Minutes-*IV:797.

After meeting with the death committee, State decided not to seek the death penalty in Mathew's case. *Hearing-IV*:836-43; *Minutes-VI*:798-800.

On 01/22/14, court severed trial of defendants because Mathew continued to invoke his right to speedy trial and co-defendant Moten waived. *Defendant's motion to sever*: II:441-444; *Opposition*-III:589-602; *Hearings*-IV:849-57:*Minutes*-IV:800-02.

Trial did not begin as planned on 02/03/14 because Defense Attorney requested continuance due to late discovery and scheduling issues.³ However, Mathew never waived his right to speedy trial.

Trial began on 04/07/14, lasting 8 days with jury returning guilty verdict on all counts.⁴

Information at II:426-40, On 04/07/14, State filed Amended Information deleting co-defendant. III:658-71. During trial, State filed two Second Amended Informations, separating ex-felon in possession of firearm charge from other charges. III;672-83; IV:747.49.

³ IV:858-63:M-803-04.

⁴ <u>Day 1:</u> 04/07/13:V:888-1021-Minutes-:IV:813; <u>Day 2:</u> 04/08/14: V:1022-1104; VI: 1105-1202-Min-IV:815; <u>Day 3:</u> 04/09/13: VI:1203-1323-Min-IV:816-7; <u>Day 4:</u> 04/10/14: VII:1324-1493-Min-IV:818; <u>Day 5:</u> 04/11/14: VIII:1494-173-Min-IV:819-20; <u>Day 6:</u> 04/14/14:IX:1731-1857-Min-IV:821-22; <u>Day 7:</u> 04/15/14: IX:1858-1906-Min-IV:823; <u>Day 8:</u>

	3
	4
	5
	6
	7
	8
	9
1	0
1	1
1	2
1	3
1	4
1	5
1	6
1	7
1	8
1	9
2	0
2	1
2	2
2	3
2	4
2	5
2	6
2	7

Immediately upon receiving guilty verdicts, court held second trial on ex-felon in possession of a firearm count. Jury returned a guilty verdict same day.⁵

On 04/17/14, court held penalty hearing for murder charge. Jury returned verdict of life with possibility of parole.⁶

On 06/18/14, court sentenced Mathew. See footnote 1.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Four time convicted felon Marque Hill was staying at 2655 Sherwood, Apartment 18, in November of 2013. VIII:1460-61. He was not the leaseholder; a woman named Teresa leased the apartment. VII:1462. Marque testified Teresa allowed him to stay in the apartment but he did not know her last name. VII:1462.

Apartment 18 was relatively bare of furniture. There were two mattresses on the floor in each of the two bedrooms, a sofa and a love seat in the living room, a coffee table, a lamp, an Xbox, and a TV on a stand. X:2067; VIII:1377;1881;1469;1470;1482;1525;1540. There were curtains on

3 |

^{04/16/14:} IX:1907-1951-Min-IV:824-25; Jury Instructions: IV:688-41; Verdict: IV:742-46.

⁵ <u>Day 8:</u> 04/16/14: IX:1907-1951-Min-IV:824-25; Jury Instructions: IV:750 -67; Verdict at IV:768.

⁶ <u>Day 9:</u> Penalty Phase: X:1952-2039-*Min*-IV:826-27; Jury Istructions:IV:769-780; Verdict IV:781

the windows so that no one could see inside the apartment. VII:1413;1473;1483.

State presented no evidence of food in the refrigerator or kitchen cabinets, no kitchen table and chairs, no chest of drawers, no pictures or decorative items, and nothing inside to indicate apartment 18 was permanently inhabited. Marque said he live in the apartment on and off for four months. VIII:1482.

On 11/04/13, Marque's friend LaRoy Thomas was staying in the apartment with him. LaRoy stayed with his friend Marque for approximately 2 weeks; he lived permanently in Tampa, Florida. VIII:137274.

Like Marque, LaRoy was a four time convicted felon out of Cook County, Illinois. Both were originally from Chicago. While LaRoy's past convictions arose out of drug crimes, Marque's convictions involved theft, possession of controlled substances, and second degree murder. VII:1404;1460.

Two other people were inside apartment 18 on 11/04/13: Nathan Rawls and Ashely Scott. Nathan was staying in apartment 18 for about one week while his girlfriend returned to their home - Nashville, Tennessee - to get paperwork to qualify her for subsidized housing in Las Vegas.

VIII:1375;1463. Marque did not know Nathan before. VII:1463. Nathan was a friend of LaRoy's ex-wife. VII:1375

Ashely Scott was homeless at the time. She arrived at apartment 18 because LaRoy offered her a place to stay and a hamburger. VII:1377-78;1430-32. LaRoy claimed Ashely came to the apartment around 8 PM but Ashely said it was close to 11:45 PM. VII:1378;1429-30. Marque testified Ashely arrived after he went to sleep. VII:1467.

There was a difference of memories as to what occurred the night before the shooting. LaRoy said they watched baseball and played Xbox then went to PT's for hamburgers and to the gas station to purchase cigars, beer, and snacks. VII:1377-80;1432. LaRoy said Marque was already asleep when he and Nathan returned. VII:1380.

On the other hand, Marque claimed they watched the Bears and Packers football game and then went out for food and snacks; he returned to the apartment by himself. VII:1465-66. Marque went to sleep in the back bedroom about 20 minutes after arriving at the apartment. VII:1466. He slept on a mattress on the floor. VII:1469.

Ashely testified that she ate food, played Xbox, and then slept on the love seat with LaRoy. VII:1382;1432-33;VII:1382;1433. Nathan fell asleep on the long couch next to the big picture window. VII:1382;1433.

Around 4 AM, LaRoy heard 5 or 6 gunshots. VII:1383. LaRoy scrambled, realizing gunshots were coming through the window across from the loveseat; but, he was already hit in his legs. VII:1383-4;1391-96. The curtain to the window was closed so that he could not see out and no one could see inside. VII:1413. He said, "I just hit the ground because it's dark in the house so I can't see nothing." VII:1283. He crawled to the back room. VII:1284. LaRoy said no one inside had a weapon. VI:1403-4.

When the shots began, Ashely jumped up then down, crawling to a closet. VII:1433-34. She could not see because the room was dark. VII:1434-45. She was hit in the foot with a bullet. VII:1434-35.

Marque was in the back bedroom when he heard 7 gun shots. VII:1468. Marque rolled to the floor and checked to see if everyone was okay. VII:1468. He claimed he heard bullets whiz past him. VII:1469. While crawling on the floor, he saw LaRoy come flying through the door, saying he was hit. VII:1469. He could also hear Ashely hollering. VII:1469. Ashely was in the closet and said her leg was on fire. VII:1470.

Marque crawled to the living room to check on Nathan. VIII:1470. Nathan was on the floor, not breathing. VII:1470. Marque called 911.

Others also heard gunshots. Darren and Lorraine DeSoto, who live at 2635 Sherwood, woke at 4:35 AM when hearing 5 gunshots. Darren looked out the bedroom window and upon seeing nothing went to the kitchen window which is near the alley. Darren saw the glow of car headlights coming towards his apartment. The "silver Dodge Magnum, with limo tint windows, after-market rims, no front license plate, no visible chrome" drove past the kitchen window, within 7 feet from where Darren was standing. VI:1246-49. He told Lorraine to call 911.

Lorraine looked outside the bedroom window and saw the Dodge drive past at a normal speed. She had not seen the car in her neighborhood before. The windows were tinted and rolled up. VI:1254-55. She called 911.

Police and medical arrived almost immediately. Officer Weber testified that upon arrival, officers drew their guns, knocked on the door to apartment 18, and cleared the apartment. VI:1224-40. When Weber arrived, the curtains were closed and no one could see inside the apartment. VI:1239. They found no firearms inside; three wounded came – two of them, LaRoy and Ashely, were taken to the hospital. One person did not need medical

See Darren DeSoto at VI:1241-1252 and Lorraine at VI:1253-1268.

After police arrived LaRoy was taken to Sunrise Hospital. On 11/05/13, CSA Jessie Sams collected evidence from Sunrise Hospital Security Officer Salvatore Martin. According to the chain-of-custody

treatment (Marque) while another (Nathan) lay out floor and was determined to be deceased. VI:1225-30.

Nathan was the one closest to the window through which bullets entered; he suffered 3 gunshot wounds. VII:1415-16. One bullet entered his right upper back, creating lethal internal damage. This bullet travelled through his upper chest, hitting lungs, heart, and aoata, then left his body. VII:1417-20. Second bullet entered his right upper arm, travelling through his shoulder to his chest through lung area. VII:1420-21. The third bullet fractured his knee cap. VII:1422.

While some officers immediately responded to apartment 18, others looked for the silver Dodge Magnum seen by the DeSotos. Within four minutes of receiving the call over the radio, Officer Parquette stopped a silver

documents, she was given a plastic vial contained one bullet removed from LeRoy Thomas. VIII:1638-41. Martin testified that he met CSA Sams on 11/05/13 and gave her evidence with the name of LeRoy Thomas on the paperwork. VII:1485-90.

Ashely was also taken to Sunrise Hospital. Ashley testified the bullet in her foot was removed 9 days after the incident. VII:1439-40. On 11/13/13, CSA Shandra Lynch responded to Sunrise Hospital and obtained an envelope with the name Ashely Scott written on it from Officer Figurella. It was her understanding that the envelope contained a bullet removed from Ashely. VIII:1627-32.

Forensic pathologist Dr. Larry Simms conducted the autopsy of Nathan on 11/06/13. VII:1414-28. Detective Raetz attended the autopsy. VIII:1656-60.CSA Shayla Joseph documented the autopsy conducted by Dr. Simms and noted that one bullet was removed. VIII:1554-57; Exhibit 85.

Dodge Magnum on Eastern and Ogden. VI:1269-96. Mathew was driving the car and Martell Moten was in the backseat driver's side of the car. VI:1278-80. Both complied with officer's orders and exited the car as directed.

Parquette testified that she asked Mathew if there was anything illegal in the car and he responded: "No. But if there is, it's his [the co-defendant]." VI:1281. Officer Sokolowski added that Mathew claimed he had just picked up Moten near the Stratosphere and consented to a search of the car. VI:1290;1308-10;1315. Sokolowski said the Stratosphere was close to the apartment on Sherwood. VI:1310.

Officers declined to search the Dodge based on Mathew's consent, instead waiting for a search warrant. But when looking into the car through the open doors, Parquette saw a latex glove and the butt of a handgun in the back seat area of the car, under the front passenger seat. VI:1284-88.

Because the incident involved a death, homicide Detective Rogers took over as one of the lead detectives. VII:1330-70. Rogers responded to the car stop, called for crime scene investigators, and preserved the integrity of the scene while other detectives obtained a search warrant. When he first arrived, he walked around the car and when looking into an open door saw a handgun under the front passenger seat. VII:1336.

CSA Cromwell (VIII:1559-1602) and CSA Taylor (VIII:1603-26) arrived to process the Dodge. While waiting for the search warrant, Cromwell took pictures of the outside of the car and of Mathew and Moten. VIII:1565-67. Cromwell saw red fibers in Moten's hairline and a red sweatshirt inside the car. VIII:1566-67.

Police took Darren and Lorraine DeSoto to Ogden and Eastern to view the car stopped on the side of the road. Both confirmed it was the same car they saw driving past their apartment windows after they heard gunshots. VI:1250-52;1248-60.

Upon receiving notice of the search warrant, Cromwell documented the car by taking notes and photographs while Taylor impounded evidence. VIII:1559-1602;VIII:1603-26.

Cromwell stated there was no license on the front of the car. VIII:1563.

Taylor impounded a Smith and Wesson firearm, model 660, 9
millimeter found under the front passenger seat. VIII:1569;157273;1582;1605. The slide was forward with a cartridge in the chamber and a magazine containing 8 cartridges. VIII:1601;1619;1622. The CSA's only did a cursory search of the car then sealed it before having it towed to METRO crime lab garage for a more extensive search. VIII:1569;1607.

It was later learned that the registered owner of the car was Mathew's girlfriend, Kwame Jackson. VIII:1656-61.

Meanwhile, CSA Brenda Vaandering documented and processed the crime scene on Sherwood. VIII:1504-54. In a courtyard area outside apartment 18, Vaandering recovered 13 cartridge cases: 7 were .40 cartridge cases and 6 were 9mm. VIII:1510-11-19;X:2068;2084. As to the .40 cartridge cases, some were marked as R-P 40 S&W and others said Federal 40 S&W. VIII:1532.

Vaandering collected bullets and bullet fragments inside apartment 18 as marked on a diagram. X:2067; VIII:1536-44. As seen in photographs, she marked bullet holes and strikes with pink arrows inside and outside the apartment. VIII:1519;X:2086-2103. Using a laser and rods, she marked the trajectory of bullets from entry through the window into the apartment. VIII:1520-26. She pointed out bullet holes in the walls for the jury. VIII:1524-29.

Vaandering determined that at least one bullet went through the window, through the curtain, through the loveseat, through the wall, into the bedroom and then lodged in the exterior wall. VIII:1543;1547-48,15550-51. Several bullets were found in the back bedroom and the livingroom. X:2067.

Vaandering worked with two other CSAs to document the scene, under the direction of lead homicide Detective Raetz.VIII:1508; 1644-63. Raetz testified that other than to check on the victims and clear the apartment, METRO waited for a search warrant before processing the apartment. VIII:1647-49. Raetz counted 13 separate bullet impacts in front of the apartment – 10 shots through the front window. VIII:1650. When he entered the apartment, directly in front of the window was the couch and Nathan's body. VIII:1652.

In the meantime, Detective Rogers remained with the Dodge until the tow truck arrived and then followed it back to METRO garage. VII:1337-38. Once at the garage, Rogers oversaw Cromwell and Taylor's processing of the Dodge. VII:1583-92;1607-09.

Taylor impounded the red sweatshirt and Chicago Bulls jacket while Cromwell re-photographed the car and they processed the car for fingerprints. VII:1587-91;1607-09. Upon completion of the search, Cromwell and Taylor went to lunch while Rogers waited for the tow truck. VII:1337-38;1592X;2073-76.

Subsequently, Rogers received information that a second gun may be inside the Dodge. VII:1339. Rogers opened the car, searched under the pedal

On 11/05/12, CSA Jocelyn Maldonado went to Ewing Brother's Towing lot and collected the blue latex gloves. IV:1737-40.

area, then pulled down the dash board near the steering column. VII:1339.

Rogers saw a firearm inside. VII:1339.

Cromwell testified that he received a call from his supervisor and he and Taylor returned to find the dash board in the Dodge pulled down and a firearm inside. VII:1340-51;1593-94;1609-10;See X:2078. Cromwell took pictures while Taylor impounded the weapon: Glock, Model 22, .40 caliber, with an attached green laser and a magazine containing one cartridge and one cartridge in the chamber. VII:1594;1611;1617. Taylor processed both guns for fingerprints. VII:1598-16001625.

Forensic Scientist David Johnson worked in METRO's latent print detail. VIII:1664-81. Johnson identified fingerprints or palm prints belonging to Mathew on the exterior surface of the driver's door, exterior side surface of rear driver side window, and exterior rear window of the trunk. VIII:1673-76;1679. No latent prints found inside the car belonged to Mathew. VIII:1680. Johnson was unable to lift prints from the blue latex glove. VIII:1670-71.

Forensic Scientist Beata Vida worked in METRO's DNA section. VIII:1682-09. Vida did not find Mathew's DNA on any items tested from the car or apartment 18.¹¹

Vida testified that DNA results on the blue glove contained a mixture with Moten being a major contributor and other contributors being inconclusive. VIII:1169-93. No identifiable DNA was found on the firearms, the magazines, or the red sweatshirt. VIII:1697-1701;1708. Vida did not test the bullets or cartridge casings. VIII:1707.

Forensic Scientist Anya Lester worked in METRO's firearms and tool marks unit. IX:1742-1806. Lester examined the two firearms recovered inside the Dodge and the bullets, fragments, and cartridge casings found outside and inside apartment. 18.

Lester testified that the Glock was submitted to her with one cartridge casing head stamped R-P 40 Smith & Wesson. VII:1761-71. After test firing the Glock and examining the evidence impounded, Lester concluded that 7 cartridge casings found outside the apartment came from the Glock.

On 11/14/13, CSA Moretta McIntyre met detectives at the tow yard to conduct further examination on the Dodge Magnum. VIII:1633-37. She photographed the car inside and out; one seal was broken. She swabbed areas for DNA.

VII:1780. Additionally, 6 bullets or fragments recovered inside the apartment came from the Glock. VII:1784.

As to the Smith and Wesson 9 millimeter firearm, after test firing and making a comparison, Lester concluded that 6 of the 9 millimeter Luger Cartridge cases found outside the apartment came from the Smith and Wesson. VII:1762. She was not able to reach a conclusion as to whether any bullets or bullet fragments found inside the apartment came from the Smith and Wesson though there were 5 grooves of similarity. VII:1789-93.

State presented no evidence as to why the shooting occurred.

LaRoy testified that he did not know Mathew or Martell Moten, knew of no reason for the shooting, and did not have any problems with any one prior to the shooting. VII:1405;1413. LaRoy said he also never saw Nathan, Marque, and Ashely having any problems with anyone. VII:1405.

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