IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MATTHEW WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 06 2015 03:03 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Case No. 65998 Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SHARON G. DICKINSON Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003710 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

technical review" to ensure the correct policies and procedures were followed. 9 AA 1799. She testified the entire case file is then given a final administrative review by her manager. 9 AA 1799-80.

Appellant made no objection to Lester's testimony regarding the review of her work by other individuals, and thus failed to preserve this claim for appeal. See, e.g., Rippo v. State, 113 Nev. 1239, 1259, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997) (finding failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue). Unpreserved constitutional arguments are reviewed by this Court for plain error. Martinorellan v. State, 128 Nev. ___, ___, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015) ("all unpreserved errors are to be reviewed for plain error without regard as to whether they are of constitutional dimension.").

The Sixth Amendment provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him," and gives the accused the opportunity to cross-examine all those who "bear testimony" against him. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1364 (2004); see also White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 359, 112 S.Ct. 736, 744 (1992) (Thomas, J., concurring in part and concurring in judgment) ("critical phrase within the Clause is 'witnesses against him'"). Thus, testimonial hearsay - i.e. extrajudicial statements used as the "functional equivalent" of in-court testimony - may only be admitted at trial if the declarant is "unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior

opportunity for cross-examination." <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 53-54, 124 S.Ct. at 1365. To run afoul of the Confrontation Clause, therefore, out-of-court statements introduced at trial must not only be "testimonial" but must also be hearsay, for the Clause does not bar the use of even "testimonial statements for purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter asserted." <u>Id.</u> at 59, n.9, 124 S.Ct. at 1369 n.9 (*citing* Tennessee v. Street, 471 U.S. 409, 414, 105 S.Ct. 2078, 2081-82 (1985)).

Additionally, pursuant to NRS 51.035, hearsay evidence is evidence of a statement made other than by a testifying witness which is offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. A witness may testify as an expert witness to matters "within the scope of [his specialized] knowledge," NRS 50.275, based on facts or data "made known to him at or before the hearing," NRS 50.285(1), that are "of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in forming opinions or inferences" and therefore "need not be admissible in evidence," NRS 50.285(2).

In Melendez-Diaz v. Mass., 557 U.S. 305, 311, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 2532 (2009), the Court, in interpreting Crawford, held that forensic reports could not be admitted against a defendant unless the analyst who prepared and certified the report testified and was subject to cross-examination. The Court went on to say, "it is not the case, that anyone whose testimony may be relevant in establishing the chain of custody, authenticity of the sample, or accuracy of the testing device, must appear in person as part of the prosecution's case". <u>Id.</u>

A. The Confrontation Clause Is Not Implicated Because No Testimonial Hearsay Was Admitted Against Appellant

Appellant's right to confrontation was not violated when Lester testified regarding the review procedure Metro employs to ensure the accuracy of its test results. The Confrontation Clause is only implicated when testimonial hearsay is offered against the defendant. See Crawford, 541 U.S. at 53-54, 124 S.Ct. at 1365. Hearsay is a *statement* made other than by a testifying witness which is offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. NRS 51.035. "A 'statement' subject to the hearsay rule means an oral assertion, an assertion in a record, or nonverbal conduct of a person who intends it as an assertion. A person makes an assertion when that person speaks, writes, acts, or fails to act with the intent to convey an expression of fact or opinion. The effect of the definition of 'statement' is to exclude from the operation of the hearsay rule all evidence of conduct not intended as an assertion and any oral statement which is not intended as an assertion." 29 Am Jur 2d Evidence § 672.

Here, no statements of other forensic examiners were offered into evidence. Appellant grossly misstates the record by claiming Lester "just gave her opinion and stated others agreed." Appellant's Opening Brief, at 46. Unsurprisingly, Appellant provides no citation to the record to support this flatly incorrect statement. Lester never expressed any assertions or conclusions made by the forensic examiners who routinely review her work. Lester testified regarding the procedures that are

followed in Metro's laboratory, not any specific assertions made by other individuals. 9 AA 1798-1800. On redirect, the prosecutor asked Lester what sort of procedures are followed after Lester finishes testing evidence and has reached her conclusions. 9 AA 1798. Lester then described the review and verification process that is conducted every time she completes the testing of evidence. 9 AA 1798-1800. She did not testify as to any specific conclusions reached by the other examiners, she only described the process by which her results and conclusions are reviewed. Lester's testimony was about the *procedures* followed by the laboratory, not any statements made by those who conducted that process. Appellant claims opinions of non-testifying experts were presented at trial, yet provides no citation of any such opinion. Contrary to Appellant's blatant misstatement of the record, Lester never testified that other forensic examiners formed the same conclusions she did regarding the ballistics evidence in this case. Appellant's Opening Brief, at 44. What is required under Melendez-Diaz and its progeny is that the results of forensic testing not be admitted against a defendant without testimony from the forensic analyst who conducted that testing. See 557 U.S. 305, 311, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 2532. This rule was not violated in this case, as Lester, the analyst who conducted the firearms testing, testified in this case. That other individuals reviewed Lester's work, but their conclusions were not presented at trial, does not amount to a Confrontation Clause violation.

B. Appellant Has Not Demonstrated Plain Error

As Lester's testimony was proper and did not constitute a Confrontation Clause violation, or even involve the admittance of a statement, Appellant is unable to demonstrate the existence of plain error. To show plain error, a defendant must demonstrate that the error was prejudicial and affected his substantial rights. VegaV. State, 126 Nev. ____, ___, 236 P.3d 632, 638 (2010). Lester's testimony regarding the review process of her testing procedures and results did not prejudice Appellant. There is nothing in the record to indicate that Lester's testimony regarding the firearms testing would not have been credible absent her testimony about the review and verification process used in the laboratory. Accordingly, Appellant's claim is without merit.

VIII THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OBTAINED FROM FIELD INTERVIEWS AND PHOTOGRAPHS DEPICTING APPELLANT'S TATTOOS TO BE INTRODUCED AT THE PENALTY HEARING

During the penalty proceeding, Detective Matthew Gillis testified regarding Appellant's prison disciplinary record, gang affiliations and involvement in other crimes, some of which was based upon information obtained through numerous field interviews. 10 AA 1985-2002. Two pictures of Appellant taken during field interviews were admitted. 10 AA 1989, 1991. Three pictures of Appellant taken while he was in prison, which depicted his tattoos, were also admitted. 10 AA 2000-

01. The pictures depicted tattoos of "Lil" on Appellant's right hand, "Matt" on his left hand, "90s baby" on his left wrist, . 10 AA 2000-01. The pictures also depicted a tattoo on Appellant's arm of "RR" which Detective Gillis testified stood for "Rich Rolling." 10 AA 2002. Another picture depicted Appellant's tattoo of the word "sucka", a racial slur, and a downward pointing arrow. 10 AA 2001-02.

At the penalty hearing, Appellant made no objection to the admission of the photographs taken of him while he was in prison or during field interviews, the testimony based upon field interviews of Appellant, or the photographs depicting his tattoos. Thus, Appellant's claim has not been preserved for appellate review. See, e.g., Rippo v. State, 113 Nev. 1239, 1259, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997) (finding failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue). Further, when a defendant claims on appeal that evidence introduced at his penalty hearing was unconstitutionally obtained, but raised no objection to its admittance at the penalty hearing, and the evidence on its face does not appear to be unconstitutionally obtained, this Court will not consider such evidence's admissibility on appeal. Bishop v. State, 95 Nev. 511, 517, 597 P.2d 273, 276 (1979). Regardless, Appellant's claim fails on its merits.

"The decision to admit particular evidence during the penalty phase is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and will not be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion." Domingues v. State, 112 Nev. 683, 697, 917 P.2d 1364, 1374 (1996)

(citing Milligan v. State, 101 Nev. 627, 708 P.2d 289 (1985), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 870, 107 S. Ct. 238 (1986)). Appellant has not demonstrated that the District Court abused its discretion by allowing testimony concerning Appellant's field interviews, and photographs of Appellant taken during field interviews and in prison, to be presented at the penalty hearing.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion by allowing the admission of the photographs and information obtained through field interviews. NRS 175.552(3) makes clear that evidence not admissible at trial is admissible during a penalty proceeding:

During the [penalty] hearing, evidence may be presented concerning aggravating and mitigating circumstances relative to the offense, defendant or victim and on any other matter which the court deems relevant to the sentence, whether or not the evidence is ordinarily admissible. Evidence may be offered to refute hearsay matters. No evidence which was secured in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of Nevada may be introduced.

See also Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1327, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) ("evidence otherwise not admissible at trial is generally admissible at a penalty hearing."). "Evidence of a defendant's character and specific instances of conduct is admissible in the penalty phase where the evidence is relevant and the danger of unfair prejudice does not substantially outweigh its probative value." <u>Harte v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1054, 1071, 13 P.3d 420, 431 (2000) (*citing McKenna v. State*, 114 Nev. 1044, 1051-52, 968 P.2d 739, 744 (1998)).

Appellant has not demonstrated, nor even argued, that this evidence was so unfairly prejudicial as to substantially outweigh its probative value. Detective Gillis testified that during numerous field interviews, Appellant admitted to membership or association with the gang the Rolling 60s. 10 AA 1985-86, 1988, 1989, 1991, 1992. Detective Gillis also testified regarding Appellant's probation violation and his involvement in other crimes. 10 AA 1990-2000. All of this was evidence of Appellant's character, which is admissible at a penalty hearing pursuant to NRS 175.552(3). Appellant has not shown that such information was unfairly prejudicial to Appellant.

Appellant attempts to impose a new requirement that lower courts *sua sponte* conduct evidentiary hearings regarding whether evidence was constitutionally obtained prior to its admittance in a penalty proceeding. Appellant fails to cite a single authority for this claim, which is not surprising, as this requirement exists nowhere in Nevada's statutes or case law. Appellant neither requested such a hearing or objected to this evidence during the penalty phase, and has not demonstrated that the field interviews were conducted in an unconstitutional

-

⁹Appellant's reference to <u>Somee v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 434, 187 P.3d 152 (2008), is unpersuasive, as in that case this Court held that field interviews must comply with constitutional requirements before evidence obtained from them may be admitted against a defendant during the *guilt* phase. <u>Id.</u> at 444, 187 P.3d at 159. This Court made no decision in <u>Somee</u> regarding the use of evidence obtained through field interviews during the penalty phase.

Appellant's constitutional rights. Per the testimony, one interview occurred when Metro was responding to a traffic violation and another when Metro was investigating a shooting incident. 10 AA 1986, 1990. Thus, this Court should not consider Appellant's claim. Bishop, 95 Nev. at 517, 597 P.2d at 276.

Finally, Appellant's claim that the photographs of his tattoos were more prejudicial than probative is entirely unsupported. Evidence regarding the defendant is admissible during the penalty phase, provided the danger of unfair prejudice does not substantially outweigh its probative value. NRS 48.035(1); Harte, 116 Nev. at 1071, 13 P.3d at 431. In Bollinger v. State, 111 Nev. 1110, 901 P.2d 671 (1995), this Court upheld the admission at the penalty hearing of photos depicting the defendant's tattoo of the defendant's nickname "Pyro." Id. at 1112, 1116, 901 P.2d This Court, citing NRS 175.552(3), stated the tattoo was "relevant at 673, 675. evidence concerning [the defendant's] character." Id. at 1116, 901 P.2d at 675. Similarly here, Appellant's tattoos were relevant as they demonstrated Appellant's character, and there is no indication they were so prejudicial that their probative value was substantially outweighed. This evidence is certainly no more prejudicial than Appellant's numerous prior convictions, which were also introduced through Detective Gillis's testimony. 10 AA 1996, 1997, 1998. Appellant presents no authority or analysis regarding his claim that the photos were prejudicial, instead

claiming the number of tattoos were "excessive" and then arguing, *ipse dixit*, that the evidence was "more prejudicial than probative." Appellant's claim is unsupported and should not be considered by this Court.

IX CUMULATIVE ERROR DOES NOT WARRANT REVERSAL

This Court considers the following factors in addressing a claim of cumulative error: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close; (2) the quantity and character of the error; and (3) the gravity of the crime charged. Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854-5 (2000). A defendant must present all three elements. Id.

There was substantial evidence to secure Appellant's convictions. Thus, the issue of guilt is not close. Regarding the gravity of the crimes charged, Appellant was convicted of grave crimes. See Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1198, 196 P.3d 465, 482 (2008) (stating first degree murder and attempt murder are very grave crimes). In light of this severity, this Court should ignore errors that are inconsequential because "[r]eversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 470, 117 S.Ct. 1544, 1550

¹⁰The State notes that this is not the correct standard for determining the exclusion of evidence. <u>See NRS 48.035(1)(" Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is *substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice*, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury.") (emphasis added).</u>

(1997) (quoting R. Traynor, <u>The Riddle of Harmless Error</u>, 50 (1970)); <u>Accord</u>, NRS 178.598.

Regarding the quantity and quality of error issue, Appellant fails to demonstrate any error, let alone establish that these alleged errors combined to violate his right to a fair trial. Therefore, the State requests this Court deny Appellant's request and affirm his convictions.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that the verdict and sentence be affirmed.